FILED March 3, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 74048-2

No. 74048-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CAMICIA,

Respondent,

v.

HOWARD S. WRIGHT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a Washington corporation; and CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Defendants,

and

ANDREW G. COOLEY and KEATING, BUCKLIN & MCCORMACK, INC., P.S.,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Thomas M. Fitzpatrick, WSBA #8894 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW 3rd Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661 Attorneys for Appellants Cooley and Keating Bucklin & McCormack, Inc., P.S.

A. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Susan Camicia was injured on June 19, 2006 in a collision between her bicycle and a bollard, a post on the I-90 trail in the City of Mercer Island near the intersection of 81st Avenue SE and North Mercer Way. She sued the City of Mercer Island ("City") and Howard S. Wright Construction Co., the trail's builder, in 2007 for her claimed personal injuries. The City was defended by Andrew Cooley of the Keating, Bucklin & McCormack firm ("Cooley").

In the years between 2007 and 2015, Camicia propounded five sets of discovery requests to the City to which the City responded. On the eve of trial (set for May 11, 2015), and after the discovery cut-off date, Camicia's counsel demanded a discovery conference to air a series of discovery-related grievances. That conference was not productive.

Camicia then filed a broad motion to compel. The trial court granted that motion three days before the trial was set to commence, giving the City 48 hours to produce records of all bicycle accidents within its boundaries for an 18-year period. The trial court then entered a subsequent order imposing sanctions against the City and a fine against the City and Cooley jointly and severally to punish the alleged violations.

The trial court's onerous sanctions against Cooley and his law firm are the subject of this appeal. The trial court's order was an abuse of discretion imposing sanctions against counsel who fully met a plaintiff's discovery requests made over eight years of litigation. Moreover, the trial court's order would have required such counsel to conduct a records search that would have violated state and federal health care privacy directives. This Court should clarify the obligations of counsel for governmental entities to respond to overbroad and vague discovery requests, as here.

B. ASSIGMENTS OF ERROR

(1) Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in entering its May 6, 2015 order on motion to compel.

2. The trial court erred in entering its September 14, 2015 order on motion for sanctions/admitting evidence of other accidents.

(2) Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in concluding that the City and Cooley and his firm failed to produce Fire Department records pertaining to bicycle injuries and sanctioning them where such records are specifically protected from production by state and federal law? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2)

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in concluding that Cooley and his firm deliberately violated discovery rules and sanctioned them where any destruction of tort claim records was undertaken by the City in accordance with state law? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2)

3. Did the trial court generally err in imposing any sanctions on Cooley where Cooley responded to Camicia's discovery requests on behalf of the City in good faith, in an objectively reasonable manner, and the trial court failed to explicitly explain Cooley's precise sanctionable conduct, and Camicia delayed moving to compel on the discovery issues? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, Susan Camicia, a resident of Mercer Island and a paralegal at the Seattle law firm of Calfo, Harrigan, Leyh & Eakes, was riding her bicycle on Mercer Island when she struck a wooden bollard on a park path. CP 5. That bollard, installed in 1985 by WSDOT as part of the I-90 reconstruction project, was designed to prevent cars from entering the mixed use path. CP 295; *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Const. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 688, 317 P.3d 987, 988 (2014). Camicia was injured. CP 5.

Mercer Island police officer Ryan Parr happened upon the accident shortly after it occurred. CP 352. He took photos that day. CP 352. He returned to the scene a few days later at the request of the City Attorney and took more photos. CP 323.

Within days of the accident, lawyers at Camicia's law firm retained experts and began investigating a possible lawsuit. In anticipation of a lawsuit, Camicia filed an administrative tort claim form with the City to satisfy the requirements of RCW 4.96.020, CP 5, so that both she and her attorney knew there were tort claim files at the City.

In September 2007, Camicia sued the City and Howard S. Wright Construction Company in the King County Superior Court alleging that the City's mixed use path was dangerous. CP 1-8. Howard S. Wright was a contractor building a park & ride garage next to the path; she alleged that it installed construction fencing too close to the path and that it improperly stored its construction signs on the trail, blocking her free path and pushing her into the middle bollard that she struck. CP 939.¹ The case was ultimately assigned to the Honorable Laura Inveen.

Along with the summons and complaint, Camicia's lawyers served extensive discovery requests. CP 281-92. The City timely filed objections and provided answers to the initial discovery. In particular, the 2007 interrogatories broadly sought all information about all "claims or injury or death to bicyclists or pedestrians that involved fences, bollards, or other obstructions or defects in a public right-of-way either before or after this accident." Interrogatory 14; CP 289. This interrogatory was not specific as to the time frame for the request. CP 289.

Consistent with CR 34(b)(3), which provides that a party may "state a specific objection" and otherwise answer, the City timely objected

¹ Howard S. Wright and related entities settled with Camicia prior to trial. CP 107.

on the basis of the request being vague as to time and "overly broad as to location." CP 282.²

Interrogatory No. 15. Are you aware of any notices, reports, complaints, claims or other communications from any source about safety concerns to pedestrians or bicyclists from fences, bollards or other obstructions or defects in any sidewalk, path or public right-of way in the City of Mercer Island, either before or after this incident? If so, please identify or describe the dates and details of all such notices, reports or complaints, the names, addresses and telephone numbers of all persons who made and received them, all documents electronic communications or tangible things concerning them, and all decisions or actions taken in response to such notices, reports or complaints.

ANSWER: Objection. Compound. Vague as to what is meant by "notice" or "other communications" and "other obstructions or defects."

Interrogatory No. 20. Do you, your representatives, agents or attorneys have any photographs, movies, videos, diagrams, models, surveillance photography or videos or any other depictions concerning the physical facts or scene of the incident, the plaintiff, plaintiff's injuries, or any other potentially relevant object, matter or issue in this case? If so, please identify the subject, date and person preparing each such representation, the nature of the representation (whether map, diagram, model, photograph, movie, etc.), and the name and address of the present custodian.

ANSWER: Yes, see attached.

Please produce genuine, authentic originals or copies of the following documents and things:

11. All incident reports, investigative reports or other documents, drawings, computer data, photos, movies, videos or other depictions relating to other bicycling and pedestrian accidents and related safety concerns as referenced in Interrogatory Nos. 14 and 15.

RESPONSE: See documents previously attached. [The City produced a 2007 police report about a bicyclist who turned around and fell off his bicycle]

15. All photographs, movies, videos, diagrams, models, etc. as referenced in Interrogatory No. 20.

² Camicia also asked the following:

To answer these interrogatories, Cooley went to the City departments that would be logical holders of accident reports, including the police department (charged by the law to investigate all accidents including bicycle accidents),³ the public works department (with jurisdiction over roads and streets) and the park department (with jurisdiction over park paths). CP 217-18, 833, 1054. No one, including Camicia, suggested that the City's attorney should check with the fire department for medical incident report forms. CP 1054.⁴

The City was only able to obtain Camicia's medical incident report form by preparing a release that was compliant with state and federal medical information privacy laws. CP 236. This release was first reviewed by Camicia's attorney and then executed by her, CP 234-36, and,

CP 282-85.

RESPONSE: See attached.

³ RCW 46.61.755 states that bicycles "shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by the chapter." RCW 46.52.030 requires both drivers and police to prepare accident reports on a form approved by the Washington State Patrol. The Supreme Court has said: "state law requires police to report accidents (RCW 46.52.070)." *Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 883, 194 P.3d 977, 980 (2008). The City police prepared a police accident report for Camicia's accident.

⁴ Both the City and Camicia knew the fire department has EMTs and paramedics who would respond to injury accidents and prepare reports. CP 233-36, 1086. Indeed, Camicia received medical treatment at the scene from both the Mercer Island and Bellevue Fire Department paramedics. CP 233-36, 394. The records created following that treatment were viewed by both the City and Camicia as confidential health care records, available on with a valid signed release. CP 233-36, 242, 1086. (Budlong letter to Regence warning it not to release Camicia medical billings without RCW 70.02-compliant discovery request).

the City's fire department disclosed Camicia's confidential medical records that it held. CP 236.

Cooley never reviewed any confidential medical records held by the City fire department. CP 218. Such reports were never provided to him or anyone else at the City by the fire department. CP 218, 790-811, 1054-57. The only fire department records he reviewed were the reports created for Camicia's accident, and then only after she executed the referenced voluntary release. CP 236, 394, 1056. Cooley never saw or knew of the incident reports subsequently referenced in the trial court's order.⁵

The second issue related to the question of police records of accident investigations on park property. As noted *supra*, the police department was charged with investigating such accidents. But, in 2015, Cooley's firm found and produced a 2005 email between the police department and the parks department in which the police department specifically stated that it did not investigate bicycle accidents on park

⁵ These include the 2005 Plein accident, and accidents that occurred after 2006 involving Petty, Elmer, and Easton. CP 1054. There was a 2014 accident involving Gjerdrum that was referenced in both a police report and a medical incident report, but no evidence the City produced that to its lawyer. The trial court ultimately allowed the introduction of evidence of the Plein and Gjerdrum accidents as an evidentiary sanction. CP 1353.

property and that the fire department was the only City agency that responds to injury accidents on park property. CP 304.⁶

On the eve of trial, in late April 2015, Camicia filed a broad motion to compel. CP 186-201. Camicia's motion was extensive, demanding production of all City fire department medical incident reports relating to bicycle injures, the alleged investigation materials she claimed were generated by Officer Parr, and tort claims forms filed in connection with bicycle-related injuries. *Id*. Each will be addressed in turn.

(1) <u>Fire Department Medical Incident Report Forms</u>

Camicia's motion to compel sought records "kept by its Fire Department." CP 190. Camicia conceded that the City raised confidentiality of the fire department records in a pre-motion CR 26(i) discovery conference. CP 191, 225, 318. She asserted that the City had to produce all "incident reports" created by the fire department, claiming without any citation or evidence, that the fire department is not a "health care provider" and does not create "health care information." CP 363. The City responded that the fire department EMTs and paramedics were licensed and registered health care providers and the health care records they create are not subject to review or disclosure. CP 205, 790-811.

⁶ The police department did, in fact, investigate Camicia's bicycle accident. The trial court correctly noted that "City officials" were aware of this "underlap," CP 1343, but there was never any evidence that Cooley was aware that the fire department had more records than the police department. CP 1054.

(2) <u>The Parr Investigation</u>

Camicia also raised a concern regarding the production of documents in connection with Officer Parr's role in investigating her accident. CP 191-92.

In Camicia's 2007 discovery, she asked whether the City did an investigation and whether there were photos. CP 282, 284. Cooley worked with the City to answer that discovery. CP 1054-55. The answers indicated that Officer Parr did an investigation. CP 1110. The City produced his report. CP 1110. His report disclosed that he had taken both Polaroid and 35MM photos. CP 1116. The discovery asked the City to produce the photos related to the police investigation. CP 1114. The response says "See attached." CP 1114.

Even though he was aware of the Parr investigation at least as early as 2009, CP 353, Camicia's counsel alleged, for the first time in 2015 that the City did not produce the Parr photos in 2007, but it waited until May 2010 to produce them. CP 192. The record before the trial court did not include the original 2007 discovery responses to identify what was produced. Camicia's counsel claimed the photos were not produced in 2007. CP 192. Cooley did not have an intact recollection to dispute that claim. CP 1054-55. It appears neither side had an intact copy of exactly what had been provided years before. According to Camicia, the photos were withheld to try and mislead Camicia at her depositions about the weather conditions on the day of her accident. CP 1146. But the weather conditions are a matter of fact, and not dictated by photos.⁷

(3) <u>Tort Claim Records</u>

Camicia also contended that the City failed to produce tort claim forms pertaining to bicycle injuries. CP 368. In 2007, with the original discovery, Camicia asked the City, "Are you aware of any...claims...from any source about safety concerns to pedestrians or bicyclists from fences, bollards or other obstructions...?" CP 116-17. Because this interrogatory

CP 1346.

⁷ Moreover, the City argued that it would have no logical advantage by withholding these photos. One of the central issues in the case was whether co-defendant Howard S. Wright was improperly storing construction signs on the bike path. The photos showed that it was storing those signs on the path. They were leaning on an outer edge bollard and partially blocking the path. Camicia later testified that the improperly stored signs were blocking her path, and forced her to ride into the bollard. The City had no incentive to withhold evidence that would enhance the culpability of Howard S. Wright. The trial court agreed, stating:

The evidence does not support a finding that the City and Mr. Cooley deliberately concealed Officer Parr's June 19, 2006 accident scene photos to obtain a tactical advantage over plaintiff in this litigation. The photos were referenced in a police report evidence inventory, which was provided to Plaintiff in initial discovery responses. The photographs showed construction signs in the travelled pathway purportedly placed in the pathway by the agent of a co-defendant, the disclosure and existence of which would be helpful to the City's case in shifting liability, to the extent it existed, to the co-defendant Howard S. Wright construction. Further, there is no evidence this late disclosure has resulted in prejudice to Plaintiff.

was unbounded as to location and to time, the City duly objected, and it answered:

During construction of the I-90 freeway and LID, there were areas of the bike path that were closed or subject to disruption from construction. This was in the '80s to early '90s. We believe those complaints were registered with WSDOT. Plaintiff is the only claim or lawsuit involving a bicycle vs. bollard...

CP 117. Camicia also asked if the City had ever been a party to any lawsuit "involving claims of injury or death to bicyclists..." CP 117. As the question was also unbounded by time or date, the City incorporated its earlier objection and said "See attached claim and lawsuit." CP 118.

In the many years to follow, this interrogatory objection or answer was never challenged. CP 833.⁸

At oral argument on the motion to compel in 2015, Camicia demanded for the first time that the City investigate the existence of those tort claim files. The trial court agreed and made that a condition of its order, requiring production of City files from 1997–2014. CP 420. When the City investigated those files, it learned that the City Clerk had destroyed records prior to 2006. CP 829. The Clerk testified that she

⁸ A tort claim involving a bicycle accident with personal injury or property damages must be reported by either the police or the cyclist. RCW 46.52.030(1). The statute requires all persons involved in a bicycle accident to file a report within 24 hours to the City police department. *Id.* The City has a right to assume that people will obey the law -- *N. Bend Lumber Co. v. City of Seattle*, 116 Wash. 500, 507, 199 P. 988, 990 (1921) – and a right to assume that the Mercer Island Police Department will have a copy of an accident report associated with any tort claim. Thus, the police department remained the logical place to look for records, not the City Clerk's office.

destroyed the records in the normal course of business and in compliance with the document retention scheduled promulgated by the State Archivist, and followed by local agencies. CP 829.⁹ As with the Fire Department records, there was no evidence that Cooley knew that the clerk had any records or that she was destroying any records.

The trial court entered an order on May 6, 2015 granting Camicia's motion to compel, despite the tardiness of that motion. CP 420-22. The court ordered the production of City fire department records for 1997-2014, giving the City just 48 hours to comply. CP 420. The court further determined that the Parr photos were not timely produced in 2007. CP 421. The court initially denied an award of sanctions against the City or Cooley "[d]ue to the fact Plaintiff filed overlength briefs in violation of KCLCR 7, and certain of Plaintiff's requests were not meritorious..." CP 421.

The trial court followed up its May 6 order with an extensive September 14, 2015 sanctions order. CP 1340-56. The court asserted that Cooley "strategically ignored" looking at City fire department records, the City improperly destroyed tort claims records, and the City failed to produce records of bicycle accidents known to it. CP 1344. On the Parr

⁹ As with the issue of the medical records, there is no evidence that Cooley ever reviewed tort claim files, knew what evidence they did or did not disclose and intentionally withheld them. He had no role in their routine destruction. CP 833.

investigation, the court noted that Parr's photos were not produced for 18 months, but there was no deliberate concealing of them. CP 1346-47. The court then concluded that the City's failure to produce records was "willful," and that Cooley and his firm's responses to Camicia's first discovery requests were "false, misleading, and evasive." CP 1348.¹⁰ As a sanction, the court granted a trial continuance to Camicia, made punitive evidentiary rulings against the City, indicated it would "favorably consider" a spoliation instruction, and fined the City and Cooley and his firm \$10,000, jointly and severally, payable to the Legal Foundation of Washington. CP 1352.

Cooley timely appealed the sanctions order. CP 1464-86.¹¹

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court here abused its discretion in sanctioning Cooley for alleged discovery violations as a matter of law in ordering the production of City fire department records when state and federal health care information privacy laws barred the disclosure of such records. The court

¹⁰ The court even went so far as to opine, without any evidence, that Cooley would not change his conduct in the future and that he was "unapologetic, defensive, and refuses to admit that he or the City violated discovery obligations." CP 1349. The court addressed the City's legal arguments on health care records only in passing, CP 1349-50, and admitted, albeit in a footnote, that many of the bicycle injury discovery requests fell outside Camicia's initial discovery request. CP 1348 n.4.

¹¹ The principal case between Camicia and the City was settled in a late 2015 mediation. The case was dismissed in the trial court on the stipulation of the parties by an order entered on January 25, 2016. Cooley filed an amended notice of appeal to include that order.

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