NO. 74048-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(King County Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-29545-3 SEA)

SUSAN CAMICIA

Respondent,

vs.

HOWARD S. WRIGHT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a Washington Corporation and CITY OF MERCER ISLAND

Defendants,

and

ANDREW G. COOLEY, and KEATING BUCKLIN & McCORMACK, INC., P.S.,

Appellants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SUSAN CAMICIA

John Budlong, WSBA #12594
Tara L. Eubanks, WSBA #34008
THE BUDLONG LAW FIRM
100 Second Avenue South, Suite 200
Edmonds, Washington
(425) 673-1944

Attorneys for Respondent Susan Camicia

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

III. ARGUMENT.

A. The Standard of Review.

An abuse of discretion standard applies to review of challenged findings of fact that an attorney committed a discovery violation by providing discovery responses without conducting a reasonable inquiry into their truthfulness. *See Johnson v. Mermis*, 91 Wn. App. 127, 133, 855 P.2d 826 (1998), ("We apply an abuse of discretion test to review a trial court's decision to impose discovery sanctions.") *See also In re Disciplinary Proceedings against McGrath*, 174 Wn.2d 813, 818, 280 P.3d 1091 (2012):

"We uphold challenged findings as long as they are supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* Substantial evidence exists if a rational, fair-minded person would be convinced by it. Even if there are several reasonable interpretations of the evidence, it is substantial if it reasonably supports the finding. And circumstantial evidence is as good as direct evidence." *Rogers* Potato Serv., LLC v. Countrywide Potato, LLC, 152 Wash.2d 387, 391, 97 P.3d 745 (2004) (citations omitted). We give great weight to the hearing officer's findings of fact, especially where the veracity of witnesses is concerned."

Conclusions of law imposing sanctions for discovery violations are reviewed de novo. *McGrath, supra.* at 815.

Cooley's and KBM's willful discovery violations are similar to those committed by attorney McGrath which resulted in McGrath's suspension from practicing law.

In McGrath, the trial court found that attorney McGrath and his client:

"falsely certified responses to [plaintiff's] requests for production,... acted in bad faith as to their other responses to discovery; and McGrath's actions were willful and intentional and undertaken to mislead both [plaintiff] and the court..."

Id. at 822.

In addition, the trial court found McGrath and his client intentionally disregarded a court order to compel discovery. *Id.* at 823.

The trial judge filed a grievance against McGrath with the Washington State Bar Association whose hearing officer found:

"McGrath had engaged in four separate instances of conduct in violation of the rules of professional conduct (RPC). The first two violations involved McGrath's significant failures to respond to discovery requests and falsely certifying compliance with discovery rules. ... Id. at 817.

The hearing officer found:

"McGrath's certification of his discovery answers was "a false representation to the court and opposing counsel that he had made a reasonable inquiry to determine that the responses were complete and correct", in violation of RPC 8.4. ...

Id. at 826.

"McGrath continues to contend that he made a reasonable inquiry and that his certifications of the responses to discovery were accurate and proper. Again, his contentions are based upon his failure to understand the duties of a lawyer. Although McGrath may not have had actual knowledge of what documents were missing, he had actual knowledge that he had not made a reasonable inquiry."

Id. at 827.

B. <u>Camicia's Constitutional Right to Discover Essential</u> Evidence.

Cooley's and KBM's discovery abuses undermined Camicia's constitutional right of access to the court and to discovery of evidence necessary to prove her injury claims.

In *Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Center*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 780 (1991) and *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, 166 Wn.2d 974 (2009), the Supreme Court recognized, as part of the right of access to the courts under Wa. Const. Art. 1, Sec. 10 and Civil Rule 26, a plaintiff's constitutional right to "extensive discovery" of evidence necessary to prove her claim:

"The people have a right of access to courts; indeed, it is the bedrock foundation upon which rest all the people's rights and obligations. This right of access to courts includes the right of discovery authorized by the civil rules. As we have said before, "it is common legal knowledge that extensive discovery is necessary to effectively pursue either a plaintiff's claim or a defendant's defense."

166 Wn.2d at 979.

Because of the constitutional right to extensive discovery in personal injury cases, a defendant may not "unduly burden the right of medical malpractice plaintiffs to conduct discovery and, therefore, violate their right to access courts", *Putman*, 166 Wn.2d at 985, because "our rules of discovery are grounded upon the constitutional guaranty that justice will be administered openly." *Lowy v. PeaceHealth*, 174 Wn.2d 769 (2012).

In WSPIE v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 341 (1993), our Supreme Court adopted the rule of *Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495 [67 S.Ct. 385, 91 L.Ed. 451] (1947) that *equal access* to all relevant evidence in a defendant's possession is essential to proper litigation:

"The purpose of discovery is to provide a mechanism for making relevant information available to the litigants. "Mutual knowledge of all the relevant facts gathered by both parties is essential to proper litigation." (Emphasis added).

Equal access to evidence is a practical aspect of the "constitutional cornerstone" of extensive discovery:

"Besides its constitutional cornerstone, there are practical reasons for discovery. ... As modern day pretrial discovery has evolved, it has contributed enormously to "a more fair, just, and efficient process." Effective pretrial disclosure, so that each side knows what the other side knows, has narrowed and clarified the disputed issues and made early resolution possible."

Lowy, 174 Wn.2d at 777.

C. The Purposes of Discovery Sanctions.

In Wash. Physicians Ins. Assoc. Exch. v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 356, 858 P.2d1054 (1993) the Supreme Court said:

"The purposes of [discovery] sanctions are to deter, to punish, to compensate and to educate... The sanction should insure that the wrongdoer does not profit from the wrong."

KBM and Cooley wrongfully profited by prolonging this lawsuit with eight years of willful discovery evasion. Camicia's claims were worth nothing to Mercer Island and the WCIA and could not be settled during the 8 years between 2007 and 2015 when Cooley, KBM and the City were withholding evidence of other bicycle accidents and destroying evidence of other injury claims. Soon after that evidence was produced and the trial court indicated it would offer a spoliation of evidence jury instruction, this case settled for \$6,995,000 in November 2015. During those 8 years, KBM had two senior attorneys—Cooley and Rosenberg—who worked primarily on this

case. Cooley billed more than 300 hours in just 6 weeks during that period. CP 1987. This suggests that KBM lawyers billed more than a thousand hours in legal fees and received hundreds of thousands or perhaps millions of dollars in legal fees that would not have been paid, if Cooley and KBM had looked for and produced the discovery in 2007 and the case had settled at that time.

Judge Inveen's findings, Cooley's declarations, and this appeal suggest Cooley and KBM have not been educated, punished adequately or deterred from strategic discovery abuse in future cases.

D. Cooley's and KBM's Discovery Abuses Are Inexcusable.

1. Camicia did not delay in moving to compel.

From 2007 until 2015, Camicia had no evidence that the City's discovery responses or Yamashita's and Mayer's testimony were untruthful. She would have risked CR 11 sanctions, if she had moved to compel information and documents whose existence the City's lawyers and responsible officials had denied under oath.

Camicia could not move to compel after this lawsuit was dismissed in July 2009 and was on appeal from then until the Supreme Court issued its Mandate and remanded on March 7, 2014. CP 64-64.

On appeal, Cooley and KBM continue to offer baseless excuses for their willful discovery evasion. Their argument that "Camicia's delay in seeking discovery negates the basis for sanctions" *Appellants' Brief, p.32* is unsupported by legal authority and factually groundless.

2. Cooley's false claim that Fire Department records are medical records.

Cooley's and KBM's belated excuse, not asserted until 2015, that health care privileges prevented them and the City from searching Mercer Island Fire Department records for evidence of other bicycle accidents, is groundless. First, as the trial court observed, Camicia did not seek medical records, only accident records. Moreover, in *State v. Vietz*, 94 Wn. App. 870, 874, 973 P.2d 501 (1999) this Court held that "Fire Department paramedic records are not privileged medical records." Since paramedic records are not privileged it was inexcusable for Cooley and KBM strategically to ignore them. Their argument that the fire department accident records were privileged medical records is contradicted by *State v. Vietz*.

Cooley and KBM did not object until 2015 that fire department bicycle accident records are privileged medical records exempt from discovery under state and federal health care laws. Moreover, as Judge Inveen concluded this belated objection is legally baseless because health

care privileges do not apply to fire department paramedic or records. *See State v. Vietz*, 94 Wn. App. 870, 874, 973). 2d 501 (1999) ("the physician-patient privilege statute...does not apply to information obtained by paramedics.").

3. Cooley and KBM falsely denied other accidents.

Cooley and KBM falsely denied in the City's discovery responses that the City had no institutional knowledge of other bicycle accidents and related tort claims. In October 2007, after this lawsuit was filed, Cooley/KBM, without conducting any inquiry, misrepresented in the City's discovery responses that the City had no "institutional knowledge" of other potentially relevant bicycle accidents or related claims.

During oral argument on May 12, 2015 Cooley told the court there were no other accidents. 5-12-15 RP/11. After the May 6, 2015 discovery Court order to the City to produce documents, the City began to produce in daily installments, dozens of other bicycle accident reports occuring on the I-90 trail. Five of those accidents were bike-bollard collisions, one of which involved the same bollard as the Camicia accident.

4. Cooley defended Mercer Island employee depositions but did not correct their false testimony.

In their deposition testimony, Yamashita and Mayer confirmed Cooley and KBM's false, evasive discovery responses, which left no clue to Camicia that evidence of other bicycle accidents and tort claims was being withheld.

Instead of conducting a reasonable inquiry for the "other accident" and "other claims" evidence sought in plaintiff's discovery requests, disclosing the responsive documents in Mercer Island's possession, or moving for a protective order, Cooley and KBM used the same type of boilerplate objections rejected in *Johnson v. Mermis* to evade their duty to respond to Camicia's discovery: "vague as to time"... Compound, Vague as to what is meant by "notice" or "other communications" and "other obstructions or defects." CP 2282.

In *Johnson v. Mermis*, 91 Wn. App. 127, 133, 855 P.2d 826 (1998), this Court described similar objections like "overly broad, privileged, ambiguous and irrelevant" as "blanket", "boilerplate without specificity", *id.* at 133, n. 10. The court ruled they "did not satisfy the requirements of the discovery rules." *id.* at 133, or excuse a lawyer's failure to conduct a reasonable inquiry, disclose and fully produce responsive information and

documents, or move for a protective order if the lawyer did not wish to respond:

"The trial court was correct to find that the interrogatories and requests for production were improperly answered and contained boilerplate objections without specificity. The rules are clear that a party must answer all interrogatories and all requests for production unless a specific and clear objection is made. If a party disagrees with the scope of production, or wishes not to respond, it must move for a protective order and cannot withhold discoverable materials."

After watching Cooley argue at hearings on the discovery and sanctions motions at issue on this appeal, Judge Inveen found Cooley to be unapologetic and that he would likely continue to engage in similar discovery evasion in future cases:

- "31. Throughout the course of discovery and litigation surrounding it in this proceeding, counsel has made comments that are misleading. ...
- 31. (b) ... In attempting to justify the failure to disclose the Plein accident, defense counsel rephrased the question [plaintiff's interrogatory] in his own pleadings to change the meaning of the question, by using the term "Mercer Island right-of-way." He then argued that since the Pleine accident occurred in WSDOT right-of-way, there was no need for the city to disclose the incident—regardless of the fact it occurred on right-of-way within the City of Mercer Island, the City's own Fire Department responded to the incident, and a city department head referenced the incident in an email one month after it happened. The Court's experience with defense counsel has indicated that he is extremely well spoken and

talented with words. The court can only assume this rephrase was intentional.

31. (c)... The fact of the matter is that Plaintiff never asked for medical records. In oral argument, Mr. Cooley acknowledged that he has never searched Fire Department records for responses to discovery in past cases, and suggests no intent to change that practice. Given the fact that defense counsel's law practice focuses primarily on municipalities, it is highly likely this issue will come up in the future. "

CP 1349-1350.

Instead of apologizing for and renouncing their discovery practices, Cooley and KBM have filed this frivolous appeal seeking to justify the strategy for future use.

E. Motion to Dismiss and for Terms for Filing a Frivolous Appeal.

Camicia moves to dismiss this appeal as frivolous because a) Cooley and KBM are not "aggrieved parties" under RAP. 3.1 which provides: "...only an aggrieved party may seek review by the appellate court"; and b) because no reasonable person could conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that they committed discovery abuses and in imposing a \$10,000 joint and several fine against them and the City.

In *Breda v. B.P.O. Elks Lake City 1800-SO-620*,120 Wn. App. 351, 352-53, 90 P.3d 1079 (2009), this Court ruled:

"Only an aggrieved party may appeal to this court. An aggrieved party is one whose proprietary, pecuniary, or personal rights are substantially affected. A lawyer who is sanctioned by a court becomes a party to an action and thus may appeal as an aggrieved party. However, although an attorney may appeal sanctions in his own behalf, he may not appeal decisions that solely affect his clients because his rights are not affected by the rulings and he is not an aggrieved party under RAP 3.1.

Under *Breda* and *Johnson v. Mermis*, this appeal should be dismissed because Cooley and KBM are not aggrieved by the trial court's discovery, evidentiary and sanctions rulings in the May 6 and September 14, 2015 discovery and sanctions orders pertaining to the City of Mercer Island, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing a \$10,000 joint and several fine against them and the City.

1. Award of Terms.

Respondent Camicia moves this Court under RAP 18.1 and 18.9(a) for an award of reasonable attorney fees and expenses incurred in responding to this frivolous appeal.⁵

⁵RAP 18.1 provides: "Generally. If applicable law grants to a party the right to recover reasonable attorney fees or expenses on review before either the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court, the party must request the fees or expenses as provided in this rule...".

RAP18.9(a) provides: "Sanctions. The appellate court on its own initiative or on motion....may order a party or counsel,... who uses these rules for the purpose of delay, files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules to pay terms or compensatory damages to any other party

Under *Johnson v. Mermis*, 91 Wn. App. 127, 131, 137-38, 855 P.2d 826 (1998), an appeal is frivolous if:

"...considering the entire record, it has so little merit that there is no reasonable possibility of reversal and reasonable minds could not differ about the issues raised. ...there was no reasonable basis to argue that the trial court abused its discretion".

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